The Senate

Select Committee on the Establishment of a National Integrity Commission

Interim report

© Commonwealth of Australia 2016

ISBN 978-1-76010-408-5

This work is licensed under the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivs 3.0 Australia License.



The details of this licence are available on the Creative Commons website: http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/3.0/au/

Printed by the Senate Printing Unit, Parliament House, Canberra.

Select Committee into the Establishment of a National Integrity Commission

Members

Senator Zhenya Wang (Chair)

Senator the Hon Jacinta Collins (Deputy Chair)

Victoria, ALP

Senator the Hon Eric Abetz

Tasmania, LP

Senator the Hon David Johnston

Western Australia, LP

Senator the Hon Joseph Ludwig

Queensland, ALP

Senator John Madigan

Victoria, IND

Secretariat

Dr Jane Thomson, Secretary
Mr CJ Sautelle, Principal Research Officer
Mr Jarrod Baker, Senior Research Officer
Dr Mark Bode, Senior Research Officer
Ms Ophelia Tynan, Research Officer
Ms Margaret Jones, Administrative Officer

PO Box 6100 Parliament House Canberra ACT 2600 Ph: 02 6277 3585

Fax: 02 6277 5794

E-mail: nic.sen@aph.gov.au

Internet:

http://www.aph.gov.au/Parliamentary_Business/Committees/Senate/Establishment_of_a_National_Integrity_Commission

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Membership of the Committee	iii
Chapter 1	1
Introduction	1
Referral and conduct of the inquiry	1
Structure and scope of report	2
Acknowledgements	2
Chapter 2	3
Corruption in Australia	3
Perceptions of corruption in Australia	4
State governments and corruption	6
Chapter 3	11
National anti-corruption framework	11
Calls for a national anti-corruption commissioner	11
Arguments against a National Anti-corruption Commission	12
Concerns regarding the adequacy of the current system	21
Arguments in favour of a NAC	27
Effectiveness of anti-corruption agencies: experiences of the states	32
Structure of a national anti-corruption commission	34
Committee view	38
Additional Comments – Coalition Senators	41
Appendix 1	43
Submissions received	43
Appendix 2	45

Tabled documents	45
Appendix 3	47
Public hearings and witnesses	47

Chapter 1

Introduction

Referral and conduct of the inquiry

- 1.1 On 24 February 2016, the Senate resolved to establish the Select Committee relating to the establishment of a National Integrity Commission. The committee is to inquire into the adequacy of the Australian Government's legislative, institutional and policy framework in addressing corruption and misconduct and whether a national integrity commission should be established.¹
- 1.2 The inquiry's terms of references relating to the matters to be investigated are as follows:
 - (a) the adequacy of the Australian Government's legislative, institutional and policy framework in addressing all facets of institutional, organisational, political and electoral, and individual corruption and misconduct, with reference to:
 - (i) the effectiveness of the current federal and state/territory agencies and commissions in preventing, investigating and prosecuting corruption and misconduct,
 - (ii) the interrelation between federal and state/territory agencies and commissions, and
 - (iii) the nature and extent of coercive powers possessed by the various agencies and commissions, and whether those coercive powers are consistent with fundamental democratic principles;
 - (b) whether a national integrity commission should be established to address institutional, organisational, political and electoral, and individual corruption and misconduct, with reference to:
 - (i) the scope of coverage by any national integrity commission,
 - (ii) the legislative and regulatory powers required by any national integrity commission to enable effective operation,
 - (iii) the advantages and disadvantages associated with domestic and international models of integrity and anti-corruption commissions/agencies,
 - (iv) whether any national integrity commission should have broader educational powers,
 - (v) the necessity of any privacy and/or secrecy provisions,
 - (vi) any budgetary and resourcing considerations, and

¹ *Journals of the Senate*, 2016, pp. 3798–3799.

- (vii) any reporting accountability considerations; and
- (c) any other related matter.²
- 1.3 The committee advertised the inquiry on its website and has published 29 submissions to date. A list of the submissions received is at Appendix 1.
- 1.4 The committee held a hearing on 21 April 2016 in Canberra and a hearing in Sydney on 28 April 2016. The list of witnesses is available at Appendix 2.

Structure and scope of report

- 1.5 This interim report comprises three chapters. The second chapter provides an introduction to perceptions of corruption in Australia. The report concludes with a discussion of the existing national anti-corruption framework, and the potential benefits and drawbacks of creating a national anti-corruption commissioner covering elements of public administration.
- 1.6 This report is limited to considering anti-corruption measures that affect public administration in Australia. There have been calls for a National Integrity Commission that would consider alleged corruption in other areas—such as financial services or construction—which are not currently subject to dedicated anti-corruption measures. The committee reserves the right to consider the merits of these suggestions further in future reports.

Acknowledgements

- 1.7 The committee thanks all those who have contributed to the inquiry, and looks forward to working with interested stakeholders as the inquiry progresses further.
- 1.8 The committee would like to extend special thanks the Parliamentary Library who generously shared their research and knowledge in this area.

The remainder of the committee's *Terms of Reference* relate to the administration and membership of the committee's inquiry.

Chapter 2

Corruption in Australia

- 2.1 Corruption appears to exist at all levels of society. A commonly agreed definition of corruption—albeit a narrow one—is 'the misuse of entrusted power for private gain'. It can take many forms depending on local culture and context. Corruption can distort the making of public policy or the implementation of public policy. ³
- 2.2 The Attorney-General's Department provides an explanation of the place corruption occupies on the continuum of human behaviour:

Corruption could be viewed as one end of a continuum of other undesirable behaviours, including maladministration and improper conduct.

. . .

Corruption can occur on many levels, from small illicit payments as part of routine bureaucratic processes, to the large scale diversions of public resources to corrupt individuals. Corruption affects both the public and private sectors and can be facilitated by bribery, embezzlement, money-laundering, nepotism and cronyism.⁴

2.3 Corruption has a negative effect on the countries, communities and institutions in which it is able to thrive. The Attorney-General's Department's 2011 National Anti-Corruption Plan discussion paper expanded on this point:

Corruption is a corrosive global phenomenon that has a wide range of devastating impacts. It undermines democracy and the rule of law; discourages investment and distorts markets; diverts resources from important services like schools, hospitals and roads; and provides a breeding ground for organised crime and terrorism.⁵

2.4 Corruption in Australia – a very wealthy country by global standards – is not the same as corruption in a poorer country. Professor Graycar informed the committee that the kinds of corruption risk in a rich country are not typically small scale bribes to

¹ Attorney-General's Department, *The Commonwealth's approach to Anti-Corruption–Discussion Paper*, 2011, p. 7.

Attorney-General's Department, *The Commonwealth's approach to Anti-Corruption–Discussion Paper*, 2011, p. 7.

³ Professor Adam Graycar, Submission 1, p. 4.

⁴ Attorney-General's Department, *The Commonwealth's approach to Anti-Corruption–Discussion Paper*, 2011, pp. 7–8.

⁵ Attorney-General's Department, *The Commonwealth's approach to Anti-Corruption–Discussion Paper*, 2011, p. 3.

low level officials, but in corrupt conduct that influences the creation of new laws and awarding of government business.⁶

2.5 Reporting on community perceptions of corruption, a report from the Australian National University (ANU) dispelled the idea that corruption is a problem that only affects poorer countries:

In rich countries corruption certainly exists and has implications for governance, the delivery of services, the development of infrastructure, and general economic conditions, not least if there is a widespread perception that corruption is rife or increasing.⁷

Perceptions of corruption in Australia

- 2.6 Corruption has been found in Australia at the local council, state and Commonwealth level. In its most recent Corruption Perceptions Index, Transparency International (TI) ranked Australia number 13 globally, out of 168 other countries. Australia was ranked seventh in 2012. The authors of this index emphasised however that: 'transnational *perceptions* of corruption do not provide an objective, let alone relative measure of corruption or anti-corruption efforts in any given nation in *actuality*'. ¹⁰
- 2.7 Transparency International Australia (TIA) expanded upon some of the reasons for Australia's decline in the TI rankings:

It is a corruption perception index, not an index of actual corruption or corruption findings. But the perception, I think, has essentially been driven by complacency in the government, particularly in the fields of financial bribery in illicit financial flows into Australia and perhaps out of Australia. There are a number of other issues as well, which are well known. Complacency has driven the index down because Australia is perceived to have not acted promptly. ¹¹

2.8 In a survey conducted by the ANU— ANUpoll on Perceptions of Corruption 2012 (ANU Poll)—it was found that evidence of corruption is Australia is generally low:

ANU College of Arts and Social Sciences, *ANUpoll on Perceptions of Corruption 2012*, October 2012, p. 11.

⁶ Professor Adam Graycar, *Committee Hansard*, 21 April 2016, p. 17.

⁸ Transparency International, *Corruption Perception Index 2015*, http://www.transparency.org/cpi2015#results-table (accessed: 26 April 2016).

⁹ Transparency International, *Corruption Perception Index 2012*, http://www.transparency.org/cpi2012/results (accessed: 26 April 2016).

Transparency International Australia, A ten-point integrity plan for the Australian Government: Submission by Transparency International Australia on the Proposed National Anti-Corruption Plan, May 2012, p. 3.

The Hon. Anthony Whealy QC, Chairman, Transparency International Australia, *Committee Hansard*, 21 April 2016, p. 11.

The results confirm international surveys that show that the proportion of Australians who report an act of bribery involving a public official is consistently low. Less than one percent of the Australian population report that they have 'often' experienced bribery, and a further 3 percent report that they have experienced it 'occasionally', and 4 percent said it had 'seldom' happened. More than nine out of every 10 respondents said this had not happened to them or a family member in the previous five years. ¹²

- 2.9 Despite the poll showing that people have virtually no personal or family experience of corruption, there is a public *belief* that corruption *is* increasing. Forty-three per cent of respondents indicated that they felt that corruption was increasing, and a further 41 per cent see corruption as having remained the same.¹³
- 2.10 The ANU Poll also surveyed community perceptions of corruption at different levels of government:

Of the three levels of government asked about in the survey—local, state and federal—local government was seen as corrupt by just 19 percent of the respondents, followed by 25 percent who mentioned state government. The federal government was seen as corrupt by almost one in three of the respondents. 14

2.11 Submissions to this inquiry expressed concerns about the level of potential corruption within Australia:

I am extremely concerned that there is corruption within our political system. I am greatly concerned that corruption results in decisions being made by state and federal parliaments that [are] contrary to the wishes of the electorate. I am concerned that our political processes are being subverted by lobby groups and businesses with big wallets. I am concerned that political decisions are being made that [result] in actions that have deleterious impacts on our economy, social fabric, and natural environment. ¹⁵

- 2.12 Veteran anti-corruption campaigner and journalist, Bob Bottom OAM, put it to the committee that the number of online petitions—altogether attracting over 10 000 signatures—indicate the concerns in the community about corruption in Australia. 16
- 2.13 TIA hypothesised for the committee how an average Australian might view the current anti-corruption framework:

16 Mr Bob Bottom OAM, Submission 13, pp. [1–2].

ANU College of Arts and Social Sciences, *ANUpoll on Perceptions of Corruption 2012*, October 2012, p. 11.

ANU College of Arts and Social Sciences, *ANUpoll on Perceptions of Corruption 2012*, October 2012, p. 5.

ANU College of Arts and Social Sciences, *ANUpoll on Perceptions of Corruption 2012*, October 2012, p. 13.

¹⁵ Elle Crush, Submission 4, p. 1.

'What do the people of Australia think about this?' They see that every state and territory has an ICAC but the federal government does not. They would be mystified completely by that, and if you said to the community at large, 'That's because nothing's going wrong in Canberra or in the federal sphere,' they would just laugh. ¹⁷

2.14 Somewhat paradoxically, TIA has argued that Australia's perception of being mostly free from corruption may actually be a weakness:

TIA considers the single largest corruption risk in Australia to be that of complacency—the frequent assumption that because things do not 'appear' to be as bad in Australia as elsewhere, or as bad in some Australian jurisdictions as others, that specific corruption-related conduct is occurring. 18

State governments and corruption

- 2.15 All Australian states now have broad-based anti-corruption agencies. The NSW Independent Commission Against Corruption (ICAC), the Queensland Crime and Corruption Commission (Qld CCC) and the Western Australia Corruption and Crime Commission (WA CCC) have been operating in some form since the late 1980s. The Tasmanian Integrity Commission (IC), Victorian Independent Broadbased Anti-corruption Commission (IBAC) and the SA Independent Commission Against Corruption (ICAC) are more recent; all being establishing after 2010. The Northern Territory government has indicated a plan to establish an independent anti-corruption body in the first quarter of 2016. 19
- 2.16 These agencies share a number of similarities. Specifically:
- They all have jurisdiction over the public but not the private sector (although the extent of jurisdiction across the public sector varies);
- All, with the exception of the Qld CCC, have investigative, preventive and educational functions;
- They all possess coercive powers similar to those of Royal Commissions; and
- Each is overseen by a Parliamentary committee.
- 2.17 The reason for the establishment of most anti-corruption commissions in Australia was grounded on the belief that corruption was going unchallenged and that

17 The Hon. Anthony Whealy QC, Chairman, Transparency International Australia, *Committee Hansard*, 21 April 2016, p. 11.

Transparency International Australia, A ten-point integrity plan for the Australian Government: Submission by Transparency International Australia on the Proposed National Anti-Corruption Plan, May 2012, p. 3.

^{&#}x27;Attorney General John Elferink announces the government will establish a Northern Territory anti-corruption body', *NT News*, 14 August 2015, http://www.ntnews.com.au/news/northern-territory/attorney-general-john-elferink-announces-the-government-will-establish-a-northern-territory-anticorruption-body/news-story/fe2046bc6ecb1a6e9d5c81ddbd6830e9 (accessed: 13 April 2016).

the existing frameworks did not have the ability to combat corruption. In some cases the perception of corruption was sufficient to lead to the establishment of anti-corruption bodies. A key theme in the establishment of anti-corruption bodies has been the restoration and maintenance of public trust in government institutions.

2.18 The report of the Commission of Inquiry into Possible Illegal Activities and Associated Police Misconduct (the Fitzgerald Inquiry) in 1989 in Queensland provides an summary of the typical role, purpose, and powers of the anti-corruption agency model (which at the time was limited in Australia to the ICAC in NSW):

An ICAC's central role is to detect and investigate corruption. It is therefore also concerned with organised crime.

An ICAC is a permanent structure which endeavours to identify patterns and trends in official misconduct and to expose root causes of crime and the crises and disruptions it causes in public administration. Its main concern is with these larger problems, but in addressing them it amasses evidence concerning individuals which is passed over to prosecution authorities for action.

It is inquisitorial, that is to say, it conducts hearings, usually closed, with a view to establishing facts and makes inquiries which involve questioning witnesses on oath, exercising powers of search and seizure, conducting covert surveillance and interceptions, compelling the production of documents and the provision of information and, sometimes, detaining people for interrogation and investigation.

It has its own investigators, including police and other specialist investigators, such as accountants, lawyers, bankers, analysts, statisticians, and computer operators. It is subject to obligations of confidentiality and secrecy. It is obliged to report generally on its activities, but not specifically on particular investigations. Some ICACs may be directed to investigate particular people or matters. Usually they cannot be directed not to investigate matters within their charter, but may have matters referred to them for investigation by the government.

An ICAC may also carry out community education and public relations exercises. It may conduct an information campaign aimed at public servants, businessmen and professional advisers. Such campaigns may contain information about what constitutes official misconduct in relation to tax evasion, stock exchange fraud and insurance fraud. This is done with a view to raising standards and increasing community awareness of the insidious impact of official corruption.²⁰

2.19 The NSW ICAC was established in 1988 following revelations of corruption by government ministers, members of the judiciary and the police force. In his second reading speech for the Bill to establish the NSW ICAC, the then Premier highlighted the importance of an independent body in restoring trust and legitimacy in the political system:

-

Tony Fitzgerald QC, Commission of Inquiry into Possible Illegal Activities and Associated Police Misconduct, 1989, pp. 300–301.

No government can maintain its claim to legitimacy while there remains the cloud of suspicion and doubt that has hung over government in New South Wales. I am determined that my Government will be free of that doubt and suspicion; that from this time forward the people of this State will be confident in the integrity of their Government, and that they will have an institution where they can go and complain of corruption, feeling confident that their grievances will be investigated fearlessly and honestly.²¹

- 2.20 In 1989 in Queensland, what has become the Qld CCC was formed in response to the findings of the Fitzgerald Inquiry. The Fitzgerald Inquiry, over a period of two years and 238 days of public hearings, heard evidence of widespread corruption within law enforcement and public administration.
- 2.21 Similarly in 2004 in Western Australia, the establishment of what is now the WA CCC was the result of a recommendation of the interim report of the 2002 Royal Commission. ²³ The WA CCC replaced the Anti-Crime Commission, which the 2002 Royal Commission found had lost the trust of the public to prevent corruption:

In the circumstances, it has been possible at this stage of the work of the Commission to conclude that the identifiable flaws in the structure and powers of the ACC have brought about such a lack of public confidence in the current processes for the investigation of corrupt and criminal conduct that the establishment of a new permanent body is necessary.²⁴

- 2.22 Tasmania set up its IC in response to the 2009 report *Public Office is Public Trust* prepared by the Parliamentary Joint Select Committee on Ethical Conduct. The report found that the development of standards and professional codes was *ad hoc* in nature, that the current mechanisms for investigation were inadequate, and that there was a lack of advice available to public officers in relation to the conduct of their duties.²⁵
- 2.23 In Victoria, the IBAC was established in response to the 2010 *Review of Victoria's Integrity and Anti-Corruption System* (Proust Review), which was commissioned in the wake of several reports into misconduct and corruption in 2009. The Proust Review found that:

The Fitzgerald Inquiry did not recommend the establishment of a NSW style ICAC in Queensland.

_

The Hon. Mr Greiner, Premier of New South Wales, *Legislative Assembly Hansard*, 26 May 1988.

G Kennedy AO QC, Royal Commission into whether there has been Corrupt or Criminal Conduct by Western Australian Police Officers – Interim report, Western Australia, December 2002, p. 105.

²⁴ G Kennedy AO QC, Royal Commission into whether there has been Corrupt or Criminal Conduct by Western Australian Police Officers – Interim report, Western Australia, December 2002, p. 3.

Parliamentary Joint Select Committee on Ethical Conduct, *Public Office is Public Trust*, Tasmania, 2009, pp. 7–8.

There is a comparatively high level of concern within the Victorian community regarding the effectiveness of current efforts in addressing corruption, despite international rankings that rate Australian jurisdictions as being amongst the least vulnerable to corruption in the world.²⁶

2.24 The Proust Review's recommendation to establish a new, dedicated anticorruption body was partly to address a lack of coordination between existing agencies and jurisdictional gaps:

There are opportunities for Victoria's integrity bodies to operate as a more collective and cohesive system. Victoria's integrity infrastructure has evolved over time, with the creation of new integrity bodies, each undertaking valuable but disparate functions. The resulting fragmentation, system gaps and overlaps have been exacerbated by legislative restrictions on the capacity of integrity bodies to share information.

Barriers to coordination between integrity bodies have been highlighted by recent examples of different bodies investigating the same area. Findings of misconduct by one integrity body have been dismissed or not upheld by another due to different evidentiary requirements or different interpretations of what constitutes misconduct and corruption. The result is public confusion and uncertainty about whether the investigated person or body misbehaved. The removal of legislative barriers to coordination and the establishment of a coordination forum of integrity bodies should strengthen the efficiency and effectiveness of the integrity system as a whole.²⁷

2.25 The establishment of South Australia's ICAC in 2012 was not in response to allegations of serious corruption or substantive failings of the existing integrity system, but to pre-empt any future corruption problems:

Unlike some States, South Australia has fortunately thus far not been in a circumstance where cases of corruption, be it systemic or otherwise, have required an anti-corruption body to be established so as to attempt to restore faith and confidence in public institutions. Given this, some may question why an integrity body such as the ICAC is required in South Australia. My answer to that is that with modern society becoming increasingly complex and the financial resources of public funds being stretched to meet the ever increasing needs for essential government services, the temptation to engage in corrupt conduct for personal gain by abuse of public office will exist. A modern and sophisticated society should pre-empt this risk and proactively act to safeguard and preserve community confidence in the integrity of public administration. Establishing an ICAC constitutes that pre-emptive strike and safeguard.²⁸

27 State Services Authority, *Review of Victoria's integrity and anti-corruption system*, Melbourne, 2010, p. ix.

State Services Authority, *Review of Victoria's integrity and anti-corruption system*, Melbourne, 2010, p. viii.

The Hon. T.R. Kenyon, Minister for Employment, Higher Education and Skills, Minister for Science and the Information Economy, Minister for Recreation and Sport, *House of Assembly Hansard*, 2 May 2012.

- 2.26 Anti-corruption bodies have been established in response to either serious incidents of corruption, or to address a public belief that corruption was a problem. Although there are variations between states regarding powers, jurisdiction, independence and accountability afforded to anti-corruption agencies they share some common themes. All are stand-alone bodies designed to detect and prevent corruption, and through doing this improve public trust in government and public administration.
- 2.27 The following chapter will consider calls to establish a similar anti-corruption structure at the federal level.

Chapter 3

National anti-corruption framework

- 3.1 This chapter provides an overview of Australia' current anti-corruption framework, arguments for and against the establishment of a National Anti-corruption Commission (NAC), and considers how such a scheme might operate. The issues raised in this chapter may be considered in greater length in the committee's final report.
- 3.2 The purpose of this chapter is to consider some of the key issues and concerns raised in relation to a prospective NAC. In raising these matters, the committee intends that this interim report will generate further discussion and evidence regarding the benefits and drawbacks of establishing a national NAC. In its final report therefore, the committee will endeavour to identify and explore some of the methods to address these challenges.

Calls for a national anti-corruption commissioner

- 3.3 Calls for the establishment of a NAC date back to at least the 1980s; a time when the first state-based anti-corruption bodies were being established.² Over recent years there have been renewed calls for the establishment of a NAC by non-government organisations, academics, and some politicians.
- 3.4 In 2005 the *National Integrity Systems Assessment Final Report* (NISA Report) by Transparency International (TI) and Griffith University put forward a best practice integrity model. The report strongly recommended a comprehensive independent anti-corruption agency which would operate across the Commonwealth, not just a few agencies.³ TIA repeated this call most recently in January 2016 when it publishing an issues paper arguing that 'the Australian Government should establish a broad-based federal anti-corruption agency'.⁴

This chapter of the report uses the term National Anti-corruption Commission (NAC). The committee has used the term 'anti-corruption' as this aligns with Australian Government language as used in the proposed *National Anti-Corruption Plan* and associated discussion paper, and the Australian Federal Police's Fraud and Anti-corruption Centre. NAC can be read as National Integrity Commission without loss of meaning.

B Bottom, 'Lack of federal integrity commission a national scandal', *The Australian*, 29 December 2012, p. 18.

Law Council of Australia, Submission to Attorney-General's Department review of Australia's compliance with chapters three and four of the *United Nations Convention Against Corruption*, 2011, http://www.lawcouncil.asn.au/lawcouncil/images/LCA-PDF/docs-2400-2499/2412%20United%20Nations%20Convention%20against%20Corruption.pdf (accessed: 3 May 2016), p. 2.

⁴ Transparency International Australia, *Anti-corruption agencies in Australia*, position paper no. 3, January 2016, p. 2.

- 3.5 The Accountability Round Table (ART) argued for the establishment of a national commission in response to the Australian Government's 2011 discussion paper on the Commonwealth's approach to anti-corruption. The former Counsel assisting the NSW ICAC, Geoffrey Watson QC, similarly called for the establishment of a federal NAC in a lecture in 2015. Associate Professor Gabrielle Appleby of the University of New South Wales' Gilbert + Tobin Centre of Public Law has similarly argued that there is a need for a NAC.
- 3.6 There have also been calls in various democratic forums for the establishment of a NAC, with the Australian Greens having have introduced three bills to establish a NAC.⁸
- 3.7 In 2011, the Parliamentary Joint Committee on the Australian Government Commission for Law Enforcement Integrity (PJCACLEI) recommended—on the basis that the committee had received evidence indicating gaps in the Commonwealth oversight regime—that the Australian Government:

...conduct a review of the Commonwealth integrity system with particular examination of the merits of establishing a Commonwealth integrity commission with anti-corruption oversight of all Commonwealth public sector agencies, taking into account the need to retain the expertise of ACLEI in the area of law enforcement.

Arguments against a National Anti-corruption Commission

3.8 While the above highlights calls from various quarters to establish a NAC, these moves have been parried by some sections of the media and academia ¹⁰, the public sector, as well as many elected officials. ¹¹ None of these groups in any way argue that corruption should be ignored or underplayed, but that a NAC is not the best means to deal with any problems of corruption that may exist.

N McKenzie and R Baker, 'National ICAC needed to probe federal politicians, says NSW Independent Commission Against Corruption counsel Geoffrey Watson, SC', *The Sydney Morning Herald* (online), 5 December 2014.

Associate Professor Gabrielle Appleby, 'What's the case for a federal ICAC?', *The Drum*, 10 September 2014, http://www.abc.net.au/news/2014-09-10/appleby-what's-the-case-for-a-federal-icac/5733712 (accessed: 30 March 2016).

8 National Integrity Commissioner Bill 2010, National Integrity Commissioner Bill 2012, and the National Integrity Commission Bill 2013.

9 Parliamentary Joint Committee on Law Enforcement Integrity, *Inquiry into the operation of the Law Enforcement Integrity Commissioner Act* 2006, 2011, pp. 49–50.

10 'Do we really need a federal ICAC?', editorial, *The Age*, 11 September 2014; Professor Adam Graycar, *Submission 1*.

For instances, in the debate on the National Integrity Commissioner Bill 2013: Senator the Hon. Matthew Canavan, *Senate Hansard*, 13 August 2015, p. 5219; Senator Sue Lines, *Senate Hansard*, 13 August 2015, p. 5232; Senator Dean Smith, *Senate Hansard*, 15 May 2014, p. 2691, among others.

Accountability Round Table, *The national anti-corruption plan: submission of the Accountability Round Table*, 2011, p. 35.

- 3.9 Those opposed to the establishment of a NAC generally put forward arguments, which can be broadly grouped into two categories, that there is:
- a lower risk, and a lower level, of corruption at federal level reducing the need for an overarching anti-corruption body; and
- already a strong anti-corruption framework in place that has proved successful at preventing and revealing corruption in the limited cases where it has occurred.

Lower risk of corruption at the federal level

3.10 One of the key arguments for not establishing a NAC is that there is, in general, less corruption at the federal level than at the state level. In 1993, Professor Peter Boyce put forward an explanation of why corruption appears to be lower in the federal arena compared to the state level:

[T]he Commonwealth is more concerned with broad policy issues which don't lend themselves to bribes, kickbacks or decisions affected by conflict of interest than the States, and the key decision makers are physically more remote from many of the day-to-day decisions where corruption can occur. Secondly, the Commonwealth has been much more conscientious in developing a system of parliamentary scrutiny than any of the States, and has set in place administrative review processes which tend to insulate the political actors. ¹²

3.11 The Australian Public Service Commission (APSC)—the federal body responsible for the promotion of high standards of integrity and conduct in the Australia Public Service (APS)—put it to the PJCACLEI, echoing Boyce's arguments, that there is no need for a NAC as the risks of corruption are lower at the federal level of administration than they are in the state and local government spheres:

The commission's position is that we do not believe the APS needs a full-blown state ICAC style anticorruption commission. The view has been that that would be overkill given that there are a number of agencies that already have jurisdiction in that area. Already we have found that there has not been the systemic corruption that has been the subject of investigations in the state systems.

. . .

One of those is around the nature of the work of the APS—in particular, that we tend to be focused on national policy issues. A lot of the risks that are inherent within the state jurisdictions are about having a personal relationship that you can develop—transfer of money and particular decisions can be taken within a smaller group of people that you would actually have a relationship with. In health, in direct policing, in teaching

Professor Boyce, 'The three monkeys syndrome and possible remedies', paper presented to the Third Conference of the Samuel Griffith Society, Fremantle, 5–6 November 1993.

and those sorts of things, there is a direct relationship that you can develop over a period of time. ¹³

- 3.12 The Merit Protection Commissioner further noted that 'there is no evidence of systemic corruption'. ¹⁴ In 2011 the then Public Service Commissioner Mr Sedgwick similarly argued that there was no large scale problem with corruption at the federal level. ¹⁵
- 3.13 In the 2012–13 APSC State of the Service Report, the APSC argued that while the Australian Government cannot take the risks posed by corruption lightly, the Australian Government is less susceptible to corrupt behaviours than the states and territories:

While the Australian Government faces corruption risks, particularly in the regulatory and law enforcement fields, due to the nature of the functions performed by state public services (for example, land planning approvals and mining licences) state activities are often inherently more susceptible to corruption. ¹⁶

- 3.14 In the 2014 APS Employee Census showed that only 2.6 per cent of respondents indicated that they had witnessed another APS employee engage in behaviour they considered to be corruption, defined for the census as 'the dishonest or biased exercise of a Commonwealth public official's functions...that would usually justify serious penalties, such as termination of employment or criminal prosecution'. ¹⁷
- 3.15 TI regularly rates Australia as among the least corrupt countries on the planet. In its most recent *Corruption Perception Index* published in 2015, Australia is ranked 13th out of 168 countries. Of the 12 countries ahead of Australia on the TI table only Singapore has a national anti-corruption body—and of the top 20 countries only two have NACs—highlighting that a NAC is not a panacea to preventing corruption. ¹⁸

14 Ms Godwin, Merit Protection Commissioner, Australian Public Service Commission, *Joint Committee on the Australian Commission for Law Enforcement Integrity Hansard*, 14 August 2009, p. 22.

¹³ Ms Godwin, Merit Protection Commissioner, Australian Public Service Commission, *Joint Committee on the Australian Commission for Law Enforcement Integrity Hansard*, 14 August 2009, p. 22.

¹⁵ Mr Sedgwick, Australian Public Service Commissioner, Australian Public Service Commission, *Joint Committee on the Australian Commission for Law Enforcement Integrity Hansard*, 11 February 2011, pp. 2–3.

Australian Public Service Commission, State of the Service Report 2012–2013, 2013, p. 66.

Australian Public Service Commission, *State of the Service Report 2013–2014*, 2014, pp. 236–237.

Professor Adam Graycar, *Submission 1*, p. 13. Care needs to be taken in extrapolating for the Corruption Perception Index (CPI). The CPI provides a national rating. As such, Australia's high rankings may be the result of the work of state and territory efforts to tackle corruption, rather than an endorsement of a lack of corruption in any specific sphere of administration.

Already a strong anti-corruption framework in place

- 3.16 Opponents of the establishment of a NAC highlight that there is already a robust anti-corruption framework in place at the national level, and that the high-risk areas that do exist are currently extensively monitored. A number of measures are currently in place at the federal level to address corruption. These include offence provisions which criminalise corrupt activities, statutorily prescribed public sector standards, and investigative, monitoring and supervisory functions performed by various regulatory and investigatory bodies.
- 3.17 The committee was informed by the Attorney-General's Department that the reason the government does not support the establishment of a NAC is that there are already robust measures in place both within and external to government:

The Australian government does not support a National Integrity Commission. The Australian government's approach to dealing with corruption is integrated and multifaceted. We work to get the standards and training right, assess risk and detect, investigate and respond to corruption. Underpinning this approach is our democratic system of representative government and the separation of powers enshrined in the Australian Constitution. There are a range of institutions that play a role in protecting against corruption and enabling scrutiny of the public and private sectors. These include parliamentary committees that scrutinise government activity and proposed laws; a free media; and an active civil society. ¹⁹

3.18 Australia ratified the United Nations Convention against Corruption (UNCAC) on 7 December 2005. The Law Council of Australia (LCA) provides a summary of Australia's obligations under the UNCAC framework:

As a party to the UNCAC, Australia is required to develop policies in relation to anti-corruption; establish and promote practices to prevent corruption; strengthen systems for the recruitment, hiring, retention, promotion and retirement of public servants and other non-elected public officials; and promote accountability and transparency in public finance. Australia must also take steps to prevent corruption in the private sector. ²⁰

- 3.19 Australia has also ratified the United Nations Convention against Transnational Organised Crime and the OECD Convention on Combating Bribery of Foreign Public Officials in International Business Transactions.
- 3.20 At the federal level, a number of agencies or office holders have specific roles in relation to corruption.²¹ For example, the Australian Commission for Law Enforcement Integrity (ACLEI) provides independent assurance to government about

¹⁹ Ms Leanne Close, Deputy Secretary, Attorney-General's Department, *Committee Hansard*, 21 April 2016, p. 1.

²⁰ Law Council of Australia, Submission to the House Standing Committee on Social Policy and Legal Affairs: National Integrity Commissioner Bill 2012, p. 5.

²¹ This chapter considers many of the key government agencies with an anti-corruption role, but is not an exhaustive list.

the integrity of Australia's law enforcement agencies.²² The APSC is responsible for promoting the APS' Values and Code of Conduct and evaluating the extent to which agencies uphold the APS' values and the adequacy of compliance with the Code of Conduct. Among other things, the Code of Conduct states that agency heads and APS employees must not use their employment improperly for personal gain.²³

3.21 The committee was informed that the APS emphasises a culture of integrity to prevent corruption:

[T]he first thing that we want to do in the Commonwealth is promote a culture of integrity to make sure that there is not corrupt behaviour happening. If you think about the fact that we have over 200,000 employees in the Commonwealth, our starting point is making sure that we have a culture of integrity so that there is not the kind of wrongdoing that you are talking about. That is a really key thing that agencies do.²⁴

- 3.22 The Australian Federal Police (AFP) investigates serious or complex crimes against Australian Government laws, its revenue, expenditure or property. This can include both internal and external fraud committed in relation to Australian Government programs. Australian Government agencies refer allegations of corruption to the AFP for investigation.²⁵
- 3.23 In 2013 the AFP established the Fraud and Anti-Corruption Centre (FAC Centre) as a business unit within the AFP's Crime Program. The committee was advised that:

The FAC Centre, as it is called, coordinates the operational response to corruption by bringing together officials from a range of different agencies and leveraging their strengths and expertise. The AFP-led FAC Centre includes officials from the Australian Taxation Office, the Australian Securities and Investments Commission, the Australian Crime Commission, the Department of Human Services, the Department of Foreign Affairs and Trade, the Department of Immigration and Border Protection, the Department of Defence and the Australian Transaction Reports and Analysis Centre. Officials from the Attorney-General's Department and the

The agencies included in ACLEI's jurisdiction include: the Australian Border Force; the Australian Crime Commission; the Australian Federal Police; the Australian Transaction Reports and Analysis Centre; the CrimTrac Agency; prescribed aspects of the Department of Agriculture and Water Resources; the Department of Immigration and Border Protection; and the former National Crime Authority. Other agencies with a law enforcement function may also be added by regulation.

Attorney-General's Department, *The Commonwealth's approach to Anti-Corruption–Discussion Paper*, 2011, p. 5.

²⁴ Ms Catherine Hawkins, First Assistant Secretary, Attorney-General's Department, *Committee Hansard*, 21 April 2016, p. 4.

²⁵ Attorney-General's Department, *The Commonwealth's approach to Anti-Corruption–Discussion Paper*, 2011, p. 13.

Commonwealth Director of Public Prosecutions are represented as advisory members. ²⁶

3.24 The AFP argued that the FAC Centre provides the specialised expertise and collaborative networks to tackle complex fraud and corruption:

Complex fraud and corruption matters are generally protracted, requiring specialised skills and significant resources. The dedicated FAC teams provide a robust framework to build inter-departmental and industry engagement to seek to address these matters collaboratively and effectively.²⁷

3.25 The AFP emphasised to the committee that one of the critical capabilities of the FAC Centre is the ability to bring agencies together collaboratively to tackle corrupt activities:

The third aspect, and this is the really important aspect, is that by having different agencies at the table we were able to leverage off each other's strengths and capabilities. By having tax sitting next to AFP, sitting next to ASIC, sitting next to other agencies—in terms of being part of that task force arrangement—we are able to leverage off each other's capabilities, not just our own. I think that was a changing point in terms of how we approach this sort of crime type in this sort of way. ²⁸

- 3.26 The Office of the Commonwealth Ombudsman takes complaints and enquiries from members of the public about government administrative action, and undertakes investigations into those complaints and other systemic problems on an 'own motion' basis. The Commonwealth Ombudsman's mission is to promote fair and accountable government administration.²⁹
- 3.27 The Auditor-General, assisted by the Australian National Audit Office, provides independent assurance about the use of public sector resources to parliament, the government, and the public. As Grant Hehir, Auditor-General, explains:

The key role of an audit office in the public sector is to advise Parliament about whether public money is being spent well and delivers value for money. This is achieved through providing assurance over how public money has been spent, and the adequacy of the decision-making and management that underpins such spending.³⁰

Ms Leanne Close, Deputy Secretary, Attorney-General's Department, *Committee Hansard*, 21 April 2016, p. 2.

²⁷ Australian Federal Police, 'Fraud and Anti-Corruption', http://www.afp.gov.au/policing/fraud/fac-business-area (accessed: 22 April 2016).

²⁸ Mr Ian McCartney, Acting Deputy Commissioner, Operations, Australian Federal Police, *Committee Hansard*, 21 April 2016, p. 3.

²⁹ Attorney-General's Department, *The Commonwealth's approach to Anti-Corruption–Discussion Paper*, 2011, p. 15.

³⁰ Grant Hehir, A reflection of how far performance auditing has come from its roots in the 1970s to where we are today and where we are heading, IMPACT Conference, Brisbane, 15 March 2016, p. 1.

- 3.28 In addition to the aforementioned organisations and policies in place to regulate the public sector and its law enforcement agencies, there are several measures in place to facilitate political integrity.
- 3.29 In 2007, the Australian Government introduced new Standards of Ministerial Ethics (Standards), requiring of Commonwealth ministers a high standard of conduct. The Attorney-General's 2012 discussion paper explain the justification of the Standards:

The standards are underpinned by the principle that ministers and parliamentary secretaries must act with due regard for integrity, fairness, accountability, responsibility and the public interest ensuring that corrupt behaviour is not tolerated at the most senior levels of national government.³¹

- 3.30 The Statement on the Standards for Ministerial Staff, the Lobbying Code of Conduct and Register for Lobbyists, as well as the Australian Electoral Commission's funding and disclosure scheme—requiring the public disclosure of political donations above a certain threshold—are additional planks in the anti-corruption scaffold.
- 3.31 Both houses of the Parliament of Australia have also established committees dealing with alleged breaches of privilege. As explained by *Odgers' Australian Senate Practice* (Odgers'):

The term "privilege", in relation to parliamentary privilege, refers to an immunity from the ordinary law which is recognised by the law as a right of the Houses and their members.³²

- 3.32 The Attorney-General's 2012 discussion paper on the Commonwealth framework to prevent corruption also notes that 'robust democratic institutions play an important part in promoting a fair and transparent society and combatting corruption'. The democratic institutions listed include:
- parliamentary committees;
- a free media;

• civil society, including integrity agencies, academia and non-government organisations; and

• Royal Commissions which Australian governments establish 'to inquire into and report on matters of public concern including allegations of systemic corruption'. 34

31 Attorney-General's Department, *The Commonwealth's approach to Anti-Corruption–Discussion Paper*, 2012, p. 9.

_

Harry Evans and Rosemary Laing, ed., *Odgers' Australian Senate Practice*, 13th edition, Department of the Senate, 2012, p. 40.

³³ Attorney-General's Department, *The Commonwealth's approach to Anti-Corruption–Discussion Paper*, 2012, p. 11.

³⁴ Attorney-General's Department, *The Commonwealth's approach to Anti-Corruption–Discussion Paper*, 2012, p. 11.

- 3.33 This division of responsibilities is known as the 'multi-agency' approach, and can be summarised as: '...a number of different agencies [having] specific responsibilities for tackling corruption in different levels of government, and in relation to specific types of corruption'. ³⁵
- 3.34 One of the reasons put forward for the multi-agency approach is that 'the risks of corruption in the APS vary according to each agency's operating environment. It is critical that agencies consider their own risk profiles and take reasonable measures to mitigate risks.'³⁶
- 3.35 The Australian Government response to the aforementioned recommendation in the PJCACLEI emphasises the adequacy of the existing multi-agency approach:

The Government's approach to preventing corruption is based on the premise that no single body should be responsible. Instead, a strong constitutional foundation (the separation of powers and the rule of law) is enhanced by a range of bodies and government initiatives that promote accountability and transparency. This distribution of responsibility creates a strong system of checks and balances.

...

[On] the available evidence there is no convincing case for the establishment of a single overarching integrity commission.³⁷

Cost of a dedicated anti-corruption agency

- 3.36 Opponents of a dedicated anti-corruption agency often cite two costs associated with them; diminution of legal rights and financial costs.
- 3.37 The committee heard concerns that a dedicated NAC would threaten the legal rights of individuals, as well as potentially unfairly tarnish the reputation of individuals investigated, even when they are later found not to have engaged in corrupt conduct.
- 3.38 The Rule of Law Institute expressed concerns that a NAC creates a new system of justice without the legal protections embedded in the existing one:

It creates a parallel system of justice to the traditional criminal court system, initially with all the credibility of a court, but without any of the protections that have been built up around the court system over many generations, including the presumption of innocence, the high standard of proof beyond reasonable doubt, and the privilege against self-incrimination.³⁸

³⁵ Attorney-General's Department, *The Commonwealth's approach to Anti-Corruption–Discussion Paper*, 2012, p. 4.

³⁶ Australian Public Service Commission, State of the Service Report 2012–2013, 2013, p. 71.

Australian Government, Australian Government response to: Parliamentary Joint Committee on Law Enforcement Integrity, Final Report, Inquiry into the operation of the Law Enforcement Integrity Commissioner Act 2006, February 2012, pp. 7–8.

Rule of Law Institute, Submission 8, p. 2.

3.39 The Institute of Public Affairs informed the committee that anti-corruption agencies tend to possess powers that erode the protections for individuals that exist in other judicial systems:

A federal anti-corruption commission would be a regressive step from the perspective of the rule of law. Analysis conducted by the IPA demonstrates that the defining features of state anti-corruption agencies are the systematic breach of fundamental legal rights, including the presumption of innocence and the right to silence; a lack of transparency and oversight; and a disregard for the process and procedures adhered to by ordinary courts, including the rules of evidence.³⁹

- 3.40 The committee heard that potential reputational damage can be managed through the judicious use of public hearings; noting the concerns regarding the NSW ICAC model which conducts many of its hearings in public.⁴⁰
- 3.41 TIA, a strong proponent of the NAC model, conceded that:

I would finally say that, with the ICAC examples, of course it is legitimate that investigatory bodies do make mistakes and they sometimes overreach and reputations can be unfairly besmirched—everybody knows that—but those are not arguments against a federal ICAC at all. 41

3.42 Although easier to measure, in that it has a dollar value attached, the suggested financial costs of establishing a NAC are unclear. Mr Quentin Dempster, a proponent of a NAC, acknowledged that a new dedicated anti-corruption body would be expensive, but noted that some of these costs would be offset:

It is going to be relatively expensive—\$100 million or something, maybe a little bit more than that—but I think the other tangible benefits would be the savings that would be made across all areas of government because there would be an obligation on everybody, from private sector to public sector. ⁴²

- 3.43 By way of comparison, the NSW ICAC had a budget of just under \$30 million in the 2014–15 financial year. 43
- 3.44 One of the difficulties of assessing the financial costs of a NAC are taking into account the savings that might be made through integrating anti-corruption efforts and improved efficiencies created.⁴⁴

³⁹ Mr Simon Breheny, Director of Policy, Institute of Public Affairs, *Committee Hansard*, 21 April 2016, pp. 17, 19.

⁴⁰ Professor AJ Brown, Committee Hansard, 21 April 2016, p. 14.

The Hon. Anthony Whealy QC, Chairman, Transparency International Australia, *Committee Hansard*, 21 April 2016, p. 12.

⁴² Mr Quentin Dempster, *Committee Hansard*, 21 April 2016, p. 28.

⁴³ Independent Commission Against Corruption, ICAC Annual Report 2014–2015, 2015, p. 12.

The Hon. Anthony Whealy QC, Chairman, Transparency International Australia, *Committee Hansard*, 21 April 2016, p. 16.

Concerns regarding the adequacy of the current system

3.45 Critics of the current multi-agency approach argue that it cannot be said to be working in light of scandals that have emerged in recent years. They question the underlying assumption that there is a reduced risk of corruption at the federal level, and argue that a multi-agency approach creates holes that may facilitate corruption.

Questioning the assumption of limited corruption at the national level

3.46 The opinion that the federal government is less prone to corruption has been questioned by some groups. As a general rule, former Supreme Court Judge Tim Smith QC argued:

...there will always be a government corruption problem (in all countries) unless a miracle occurs to remove greed and the desire for power and hubris from the psyche of *Homo sapiens*. There is also the fact that some of the species do not believe that the rules apply to them, and others believe that the end will always justify the means. ⁴⁵

3.47 In 2011, then Commonwealth Ombudsman Allan Asher informed the PJCACLEI that there are opportunities and incentives for corruption at the national level:

[W]hile ever there is such a large range of Commonwealth programs, and programs where the Commonwealth is directly funding activities, there are incentives around for corruption, and corruption really results from incentive plus opportunity. Those incentives and opportunities are clearly increasing quite considerably. 46

- 3.48 Former NSW ICAC commissioner, Mr David Ipp, stated on the Australian Broadcasting Corporation *Four Corners* program, 'Democracy for Sale' that there was 'no reason to believe that the persons who occupy seats in the Federal Parliament are inherently better than those who occupy seats in the NSW Parliament.'
- 3.49 Mr Tim Smith has argued that current features of modern government in Australia have created a political landscape which is generally more vulnerable to corruption, including:
- increasing amounts of money spent by political parties on election campaigns;
- the privatisation of many government services involving significant discretionary powers conferred on ministers and government officials;
- a growth in the lobbying industry;
- an increase in the number of ministerial staff and their lack of accountability;

The Hon. T Smith QC, *Corruption: the abuse of power in Australia*, Australian Collaboration, 2010, p. 22.

Joint Select Committee on the Australian Commission for Law Enforcement Integrity, *Report on the Operation of the Law Enforcement Integrity Commissioner Act* 2006, 2011, p. 31.

⁴⁷ Mr Bob Bottom OAM, Submission 13, p. [2].

- an increasing dependent by the media on the supply of information by the government combined with additional government media resources; and
- the projected challenges regarding policymaking on sustainability issues, which could substantially affect some businesses' profits. 48
- 3.50 The ART has also noted that the risks of corruption have been increased in recent years by: the increase in government control of information; the increased funding needs of political campaigns; the privatisation of government services and projects; the flow of Ministers and their staff to the lobbying industry on retirement from official duties; and large infrastructure funding decision, alongside other risks.⁴⁹
- 3.51 At least one Australian state government had previously made similar claims regarding being at a lower risk of corruption than other jurisdictions. This was not the surveyed opinion of residents of that jurisdiction however:

It has been suggested that the level of misconduct or corruption risk in Tasmania is less than in other jurisdictions. In this latest survey, we sought to test if this is a view shared by the broader community. It is not—88% of those survey (sic) agreed that 'people in Tasmania's public sector are just as likely to behave unethically as people in the public sector anywhere else in Australia'. ⁵⁰

3.52 Western Australia's Corruption and Crime Commission argued that there has been no evidence provided that corruption does not exist at the national level:

The [National Anti-corruption Plan discussion paper] asserts that there is a low level of corruption within the Commonwealth sphere, but this assertion is not backed by substantive research into this issue, and/or the experience of a dedicated Commonwealth anti-corruption organisation.

The Commission's own experience is that corruption levels within state public sector organisations vary greatly from the levels these organisations claim to exist. The Australian experience of Royal Commissions, Parliamentary Inquiries and the Australian Wheat Board...illustrate the point that organisations can be motivated to under-report corruption that exists within them.⁵¹

3.53 It has also been suggested that the way the commonwealth has conflated corruption and fraud results in a lower awareness of corruption:

Law Council of Australia, Submission to Attorney-General's Department review of Australia's compliance with chapters three and four of the *United Nations Convention Against Corruption*, 2011, http://www.lawcouncil.asn.au/lawcouncil/images/LCA-PDF/docs-2400-2499/2412%20United%20Nations%20Convention%20against%20Corruption.pdf (accessed: 3 May 2016), p. 3.

⁴⁹ Accountability Round Table, Submission to Parliamentary Joint Committee on ACLEI, 21 January 2011, p. [4].

⁵⁰ Integrity Commission, *Annual Report 2014–15*, Tasmania, 2015, p. 46.

⁵¹ Corruption and Crime Commission, *Submission to the National anti-corruption plan discussion paper*, 2012, p. 5.

[The] Commonwealth's heavy reliance on financial accountability and fraud control as integrity mechanisms also means a low sensitivity to detection and prevention of corruption *other than* fraud.⁵²

Recent incidents of corruption

- 3.54 Those who do not believe the federal sphere to be corruption free can point to many instances to show that corruption has in fact been a feature of Australian political life.
- 3.55 Recent years have shown several high-profile instances of alleged corruption at the commonwealth level. In 2005, the Australian Wheat Board made headlines for allegedly violating United Nations sanctions and Australian law by paying bribes to Iraqi leader Saddam Hussein to retain business. In 2009, allegations emerged in the media that Securency, a note-printing company half-owned by the Reserve Bank of Australia (RBA) and another company—Note Printing Australia, fully owned by the RBA—had engaged in corrupt conduct to secure contracts. In 2015, an Australian Bureau of Statistics (ABS) employee was imprisoned for using unpublished official data to derive personal gain on the financial markets.
- 3.56 The ART provided evidence in 2012 of at least nine examples of corrupt conduct from 1999 to 2012 involving a range of public agencies at the commonwealth level.⁵⁶
- 3.57 While these cases provide evidence that the federal level of governance and politics is not free from corruption, they do not necessarily indicate whether the current system is working or not. On the one hand it can be argued that because these cases came to light the current system is working to prevent corruption, and catching it when it does occur. For example, the committee was informed by the AFP that the discovery and prosecution of the aforementioned ABS employee was as a result of the work of the FAC Centre.⁵⁷

Transparency International Australia and Griffith University, *National Integrity Systems Assessment—Final Report*, 2005, p. 31. Emphasis in original.

Commissioner the Hon. Terence RH Cole AO RFD QC, Report of the Inquiry into certain Australian companies in relation to the UN Oil-for-Food Programme, 2006, p. xiv.

Joint Select Committee on the Australian Commission for Law Enforcement Integrity, *Integrity of overseas Commonwealth law enforcement operations*, 2013, pp. 9–11.

Helen Vines, 'Greedy' pair Lukas Kamay, Christopher Hill jailed over \$7 million ABS insider trading scam, Australian Broadcasting Company News, 17 March 2015, (http://www.abc.net.au/news/2015-03-17/pair-sentenced-over-abs-insider-trading/6324526, accessed: 3 May 2016.

Joint Select Committee on the Australian Commission for Law Enforcement Integrity, *Inquiry* into the jurisdiction of the Australian Commission for Law Enforcement Integrity, Accountability Round Table, *Submission 11*, pp. 4–5.

57 Mr Ian McCartney, Acting Deputy Commissioner, Operations, Australian Federal Police, *Committee Hansard*, 21 April 2016, p. 3.

- 3.58 On the other hand it can be argued that the cases that have come to light are only the few cases that have been discovered—principally through the media—with many other instances of corruption left undiscovered.
- 3.59 Extending this idea more broadly, the lack of evidence of corruption under the current system should not be extrapolated to there being no corruption, rather than the more limited interpretation of there simply being no evidence of corruption. It has been pointed out elsewhere that the absence of evidence of corruption does not mean that there is not a corruption problem.⁵⁸

Multiagency approach has flaws

3.60 Groups such as TI and the ART argue that the current multi-agency model is flawed, and is not adequate to prevent or discover corruption. In a particularly critical summary of the current system, TIA wrote in 2012:

The recent adoption of the term 'model' suggests that current Commonwealth arrangements reflect a degree of pre-existing planning or coherence which, in TIA's assessment, is factually and historically inaccurate. The Commonwealth's present arrangements would be better understood as the result of decades of largely uncoordinated developments in administrative law, criminal law and public sector management, together with political accident. ⁵⁹

3.61 Elsewhere, ART has also criticised the existing system as being fragmented and ill-defined:

We note also that the core of the Federal Government's approach of distributing accountability obligations among the Federal public service. non-statutory agencies, statutory agencies, statutory corporations and government business enterprises is contained in a network of inter-related statutes: the Public Services Act, Financial Management and Accountability Act and the Commonwealth Authorities and Companies Act. This collection of legislation has a range of deficiencies. It does not clearly distinguish between appropriate ex ante and ex poste accountability mechanisms or provide for clear processes. In addition, the accountability framework appears to have been developed in isolation of any clarification of how these statutory accountability obligations intersect with the extension of ministerial responsibility obligations to non-departmental governmental bodies outside the constitutional core of government. The consequence is an ill-defined and fragmented accountability framework that lacks a clearly identifiable and enforceable body of principles to guide the behaviour of public officials.⁶⁰

Transparency International Australia, *Submission to the National anti-corruption plan discussion paper*, 2012, p. 9.

The Hon. T Smith QC, *Corruption: the abuse of power in Australia*, Australian Collaboration, 2010, p. 22.

⁶⁰ Accountability Round Table, *Submission to the International Review of Australia's Implementation of UNCAC*, 2012, http://www.accountabilityrt.org/federal-anti-corruption-systems-review-submissions/ (accessed: 3 May 2016), p. 11.

3.62 The committee also heard evidence that the existing framework does not have the resources or inclination to investigate corrupt practices that might fall short of the definition of serious crime:

The Australian Federal Police and the fraud agencies that we have heard discussed are doing a good job; there can be no doubt about that. They are doing their best. We would seriously doubt that they are adequately resourced, and it is difficult for them to get on with prosecutions and get successful outcomes, but they do not have the resources, the time or the inclination to look at misbehaviour that falls short of criminal conduct. It is not really part of their job, so they are not really going to fill that gap, and nor should they, really; it is not their job. ⁶¹

- 3.63 Professor Brown highlighted that the Australian Government is trying to prevent corruption through the multi-agency model, but noted 'a multi-faceted approach is not automatically a comprehensive approach, a well-coordinated approach or an approach that delivers satisfaction that all the gaps are actually being adequately covered'. 62
- 3.64 ART raised concerns that fragmentation and resourcing constraints might lead to corruption slipping through jurisdictional cracks, or that overlapping jurisdictions will similarly create opportunities for corruption to go unpunished. TIA highlighted some areas of concern where there remain gaps that potentially allow corrupt activities to occur. TIA contended that:

Most federal agencies' anti-corruption efforts continue to go unsupervised (other than clear criminal conduct reported to the AFP), including around half of the total federal public sector not in the jurisdiction of the Australian Public Service Commission;

There are no independent mechanisms supporting federal parliamentary integrity (other than AFP investigations into criminal conduct);

Corruption prevention, risk assessment and monitoring activities are patchy and uncoordinated; and

The criminal law enforcement focus of the AFP Fraud and Anti-Corruption Centre, while important, includes foreign bribery, anti-money laundering and other criminal cases, and cannot provide the necessary oversight of 'softer' or 'grey area' corruption investigation and prevention activity across the federal sector. ⁶⁴

Accountability Round Table, *Submission to the National anti-corruption plan discussion paper*, pp. 19–20.

The Hon. Anthony Whealy QC, Chairman, Transparency International Australia, *Committee Hansard*, 21 April 2016, p. 9.

⁶² Professor AJ Brown, Committee Hansard, 21 April 2016, p. 10.

Transparency International Australia, *Anti-corruption agencies in Australia*, position paper no. 3, January 2016, p.2.

3.65 The ART argued that the current multi-body approach employed at the commonwealth level is inadequate as it creates a shared assumption that there is effective external oversight, noting:

[The] danger of relying on a multi-body approach and shared responsibility was that each body was likely to assume effective oversight from every other body, and thus abrogate their own ultimate responsibility. ⁶⁵

. . .

[No] one had ultimate responsibility and each body involved was likely to assume that all was well because the other body had been making sure that nothing corrupt was going on. ⁶⁶

- 3.66 The multi-agency approach also relies on each agency developing the skills and expertise to monitor compliance, educate and investigate. Agencies are likely to have competing priorities and potential conflicts of interest in dealing with corruption internally. Internal systems are also at risk of themselves becoming corrupted. 67
- 3.67 The role of discretion in the current framework was also questioned. ART noted that there was discretion within the public service as to whether or not a matter was referred to the AFP, and then the AFP could determine whether to investigate. The ART argues that the AFP should investigate suspicions of corruption when they come to light; even if on the surface the consequence of a particular case appear minor. 68
- 3.68 Furthermore, the Australian Crime Commission's *Organised Crime in Australia 2015 Report* noted that 'as the sophistication of organised crime increases, corrupt conduct is likely to become less susceptible to discovery than was previously the case'. ⁶⁹
- 3.69 The current investigatory mechanisms in place such as Royal Commissions and independent inquiries are used on an ad-hoc basis. Critics of these mechanisms note that the terms of reference are often written in such a way as to protect the

_

Parliamentary Joint Committee on the Australian Commission for Law Enforcement Integrity, Inquiry into the jurisdiction of the Australian Commission for Law Enforcement Integrity, Accountability Round Table, Submission 11, p. 2.

Parliamentary Joint Committee on the Australian Commission for Law Enforcement Integrity, Inquiry into the jurisdiction of the Australian Commission for Law Enforcement Integrity, Accountability Round Table, Submission 11, p. 4.

Accountability Round Table, *Submission to the National anti-corruption plan discussion paper*, pp. 20–21.

Accountability Round Table, *Submission to the National anti-corruption plan discussion paper*, p. 23.

⁶⁹ Australian Crime Commission, *Organised Crime in Australia 2015 Report*, Canberra, 2015, p. 29.

government of the day.⁷⁰ The Law Council of Australia noted that these are only effective 'where there is a political will'.⁷¹ The importance of political will was highlighted in New South Wales in 2010 when the State government prorogued Parliament three months before the election, in what some commentators saw an attempt to avoid parliamentary committee scrutiny.⁷² The committee's Chair reported that as a result of this, 'the Committee was stymied in its efforts to uncover the facts surrounding the Gentrader transactions'.⁷³

Arguments in favour of a NAC

- 3.70 A national anti-corruption framework, adopting some of the properties used in the states and territories has been proposed to address the flaws identified in the current anti-corruption framework. This report has already discussed the history of calls to establish a NAC, and the circumstances that lead to the creation of dedicated anti-corruption agencies in the states; this section will discuss some of the proposed benefits of such a system.
- 3.71 While the most prominent function of a NAC is the discovery and investigation of corruption, a NAC may also improve policy co-ordination, provide leadership and education services, reduce potential jurisdictional gaps, increase administrative efficiency, send an unambiguous signal that the issue of corruption is being taken seriously, and provide confidence to the public that corruption is minimised at the highest level of government.⁷⁵
- 3.72 Most of the state-based bodies also complete an educative function, as well as an investigatory one. Providing education services surrounding corruption can increase the resilience of organisations and individuals to corruption, and clarify expectations around what does and does not constitute corrupt behaviours.

Joint Select Committee on the Australian Commission for Law Enforcement Integrity, Operation of the Law Enforcement Integrity Commissioner Act 2006, Professor Brown, Submission 15, p. [4].

Alexandra Smith, 'Turn off: Keneally blocks probe into power sale by closing parliament', *The Sydney Morning Herald*, 22 December 2010; Imre Salusinszky, 'Keneally can't avoid sell-off probe', *The Australian*, 23 December 2010, p. 1.

Parliament of New South Wales General Purpose Standing Committee No. 1, *The Gentrader transactions*, 23 February 2011, p. ix.

Transparency International Australia and Griffith University, *National Integrity Systems Assessment—Final Report*, 2005, pp. 93–101.

Gabrielle Appleby, 'What's the case for a federal ICAC?', *The Drum*, 10 September 2014, http://www.abc.net.au/news/2014-09-10/appleby-what's-the-case-for-a-federal-icac/5733712 (accessed: 25 February 2016).

_

Law Council of Australia, Submission to Attorney-General's Department review of Australia's compliance with chapters three and four of the *United Nations Convention Against Corruption*, 2011, http://www.lawcouncil.asn.au/lawcouncil/images/LCA-PDF/docs-2400-2499/2412%20United%20Nations%20Convention%20against%20Corruption.pdf (accessed: 3 May 2016), p. 1.

- 3.73 The committee heard that there were significant educative benefits to having a stand-alone body: 'The educative benefits of the establishment of this at a Commonwealth level would be quite clear from the moment such a commission were established, and everything would flow from that'.⁷⁶
- 3.74 The establishment of a stand-alone NAC sends a strong signal to the general public, as well as those who are covered by the jurisdiction of the body, that corruption is taken seriously by the political establishment and that there is a commitment to preventing corruption.
- 3.75 Mr Quentin Dempster suggested that a dedicated anti-corruption body provides the public with confidence that the corruption is taken seriously and the work of the Parliament and administration is not based on undue influences:

Corruption is a secret transaction and very hard to discover. Without a capacity to expose it, the public is left with cynicism, distrust and conspiracy theories. The mere existence of a national integrity commission would go a long way, I believe, to help to nip corruption, through influence peddling and slush funding of politicians and political parties by powerful vested interests, corporates or trade unions, tycoons or criminals, in the bud. It would show the public of Australia that it is their parliament, through the honourable discharge of their duties by elected members of the House of Representatives and the Senate, which runs the country, not any external influence-peddling power operating through devices conducive to corruption. ⁷⁷

3.76 Associate Professor Gabrielle Appleby—quoted in *The Mandarin*—explained:
One of the main purposes of these types of bodies is to promote public confidence in the integrity of government administration. The establishment, in and of itself, is one way of demonstrating that.⁷⁸

- 3.77 The *State of the Service Report 2014–15* argued that there is a strong correlation between strong ethical leadership and perceptions of how well an organisation deals with and manages corruption.⁷⁹ A NAC sends a strong signal to the public, public servants and political participants that, at the highest level of government leadership, corruption is being taken seriously.
- 3.78 The Queensland Integrity Commissioner noted that relying of broad-based awareness training is not sufficient to address the challenges of corruption, and that a

77 Mr Quentin Dempster, *Committee Hansard*, 21 April 2016, p. 24.

78 Stephen Easton, 'Federal ICAC case strong, despite anti-bribery measures', *The Mandarin*, 27 April 2015, http://www.themandarin.com.au/31553-anti-bribery-measures-beefed-up-but-the-case-for-a-federal-icac-remains/?pgnc=1 (accessed: 25 February 2016).

⁷⁶ Mr Quentin Dempster, *Committee Hansard*, 21 April 2016, p. 28.

Australian Public Service Commission, *State of the Service Report 2014–2015*, 2015, pp. 46–48.

specialised body that can provide tailored, confidential and practical advice would improve the integrity system. 80

3.79 The establishment of an independent and ongoing body that does not rely on the government of the day for its establishment or terms of reference addresses some of the shortcoming of the current system of independent inquiries and Royal Commissions. A NAC would be able to monitor whether or not governments and organisations appropriately respond to recommendations and reports. Furthermore, the perception that governments carefully insulate themselves from any adverse findings through the careful crafting of terms of references may be eroded. As highlighted to the committee by TIA:

The great difference between the kind of task force that the Federal Police were talking about and this body is that it would be permanent. Task forces come and go. They are resourced sometimes and not resourced at other times. They tend to be split up by their very nature. What we are advocating is one body that, of course, draws on all of those spectrums like ASIC, the Australian Taxation Office and the Australian Crime Commission but that is totally and solely focused on serious crime of that nature.⁸¹

3.80 It was argued that a NAC is a clear indication that corruption will be addressed. Associate Professor Gabrielle Appleby has argued that 'by fostering greater awareness and education, the introduction of a new body also provides an important moment around which cultural change within government can occur'. ⁸² The APSC appears to recognise that preventing corruption requires a cultural commitment to anti-corruption supported by an adequate framework:

While preventing corruption is an important goal for Australian Government administration, a focus on corruption prevention alone is too narrow to support a robust culture of integrity. This means that employees, managers and leaders must do what is right, rather than merely avoiding doing what is wrong. The new APS Values and Employment Principles provide an opportunity for agencies to reinforce a culture of ethical awareness and integrity across the APS when embedding them into work. The APS Values and Employment Principles need hardwiring into systems, processes and procedures and should form the basis for every management decision. 83

3.81 While most submissions and witnesses seemed to agree that a measure of independence was required for integrity commissions to complete their work, it was pointed out to the committee that balancing independence and accountability has

The Hon. Anthony Whealy QC, Chairman, Transparency International Australia, Committee Hansard, 21 April 2016, p. 8.

_

Queensland Integrity Commissioner, Submission 2, p. 1.

Gabrielle Appleby, 'What's the case for a federal ICAC?', *The Drum*, 10 September 2014, http://www.abc.net.au/news/2014-09-10/appleby-what's-the-case-for-a-federal-icac/5733712 (accessed: 25 February 2016).

⁸³ Australian Public Service Commission, State of the Service Report 2012–2013, 2013, p. 71.

proved notoriously difficult. The IPA noted that following the establishment of anticorruption agencies, governments have been disinclined to undertake necessary modifications for fear of being accused of attempting a cover-up. ⁸⁴

- 3.82 TIA, quoted above, highlighted that there are a number of areas—such as Parliament, sections of the public service, and matters such as electoral funding—that do not currently fall under the auspices of any anti-corruption body. 85
- 3.83 Professor AJ Brown from Griffith University argued for an overarching body to cover other Commonwealth departments and agencies, arguing that:

Currently there are very large areas of important Commonwealth public administration which are not subject to effective review and oversight in relation to the management of integrity risks and breaches. While it is valid and sensible for the Commonwealth Parliament to prioritise those areas of activity which should be subject to closer scrutiny and oversight than others, the fact is that all agencies and departments should be included in these elements of the Commonwealth's overall integrity system.⁸⁶

3.84 Speaking to the committee, Professor Brown argued further that the areas of corruption most concerning to the community are often those with the least oversight, and there remain tracts of public administration inadequately covered by the current system:

The other big gaps that exist relate to jurisdiction. We have heard a lot from the Attorney-General's Department about the Australian Public Service and about APS agencies. There is something of a regime that governs APS agencies, but, when it comes to non-criminal and a broader comprehensive approach to corruption risks, we have to recognise that Australian Public Service agencies only account for around half, if you are lucky, of total Commonwealth public sector activity and agencies. There is a huge issue around having a coordinated system that works right across the whole of the Commonwealth. That is without going close to parliamentary and political integrity, to political finance risks and to all the other aspects of corruption that really worry the community, just as if not more powerfully than the types of corruption problems that occur within the public service or law enforcement or at the coalface.⁸⁷

3.85 A NAC with broad-ranging jurisdiction may prevent an investigation into corrupt behaviour being prematurely terminated through an activity falling into a

85 Transparency International Australia, A ten-point integrity plan for the Australian Government: Submission by Transparency International Australia on the Proposed National Anti-Corruption Plan, May 2012, pp. 11–13.

-

Mr Simon Breheny, Director of Policy, Institute of Public Affairs, *Committee Hansard*, 21 April 2016, p. 20.

Joint Select Committee on the Australian Commission for Law Enforcement Integrity, Operation of the Law Enforcement Integrity Commissioner Act 2006, Professor Brown, Submission 15, p. [2].

⁸⁷ Professor AJ Brown, *Committee Hansard*, 21 April 2016, p. 10.

jurisdictional gap and ensure that all public servants and office holders are accountable.

3.86 A NAC provides a single point of contact for complaints and tips from individuals. The Queensland Integrity Commissioner highlighted that public servants are less likely to seek advice on corruption if the agency or institution in question will be investigating itself:

In providing advice on specific situations, there is a significant risk if the body giving the advice is also the one which will need to investigate any subsequent complaint. In addition to this conflict risk, in my experience public officers are less likely to seek advice if the body giving the advice may also investigate a complaint against them. They will be naturally reticent to fully disclose a matter which puts them at risk of further action. ⁸⁸

- 3.87 It was suggested that a NAC removes this conflict of interest as an independent agency has no incentive to cover up any corrupt activities that may have occurred. While the committee accepts that the APS has some mechanisms in place to prevent and respond to corruption, the 2014–15 State of the Service report noted that of the APS employees who had witnessed behaviour that *they* perceived as corrupt, only 34 per cent had reported that behaviour. 89
- 3.88 Some submitters suggested that the establishment of a NAC provides an opportunity to improve collaboration with state bodies and concentrate policy expertise in a single agency. Currently each agency under the commonwealth framework maintains their own policies and expertise to ensure compliance with anti-corruption requirements. The establishment of a NAC would reduce duplication across the public sector while at the same time developing corporate knowledge that could be accessed throughout the public sector.
- 3.89 In addition to discovery of corruption, a single body may provide 'systemic oversight, education and coordination for the existing mechanisms'. ⁹⁰ A NAC would be well placed to work with state-based anti-corruption bodies to discover and prevent corruption. TIA notes that:

One of the most robust elements of Australia's anti-corruption systems is the growing presence, at State level, of coordinated capacity for the independent investigation, oversight and review of serious non-criminal misconduct risks across the entire public sector.⁹¹

89 Australian Public Service Commission, State of the Service Report 2014–2015, 2015, p. 46.

Queensland Integrity Commissioner, Submission 2, p. 2.

⁹⁰ Gabrielle Appleby, 'What's the case for a federal ICAC?', *The Drum*, 10 September 2014, http://www.abc.net.au/news/2014-09-10/appleby-what's-the-case-for-a-federal-icac/5733712 (accessed: 25 February 2016).

⁹¹ Transparency International Australia, A ten-point integrity plan for the Australian Government: Submission by Transparency International Australia on the Proposed National Anti-Corruption Plan, May 2012, p. 12.

3.90 It can be assumed that a single body with responsibility for anti-corruption would be able to build stronger working relationships with key state-based counterparts, further strengthening Australia's anti-corruption system.

Effectiveness of anti-corruption agencies: experiences of the states

- 3.91 The expenditure of public money always requires justification. Any expansion of public services should be accompanies by expectations and measures of success. In a polity with no corruption, there would be no need to take any anti-corruption measures. In the absence of anti-corruption measures it is doubtful that any corruption would be uncovered, creating the impression of there being no corruption; even if this is only because there is no-one looking.
- 3.92 Careful thought needs to be given to measuring success in the case of an anti-corruption agency. An anti-corruption agency that uncovers no corruption may be any of; extremely successful, incompetent, severely under resourced, or operating in a corruption free environment. The response to this problem in Australia has typically been to rely on qualitative measures of trust in government and perceptions of corruption. As the former NSW Premier Nick Greiner argued:
 - ...it would also be crass and naïve to measure the success of the independent commission by how many convictions it gets or how much corruption it uncovers. The simple fact is that the measure of its success will be the enhancement of integrity and, most importantly, of community confidence in public administration in this State. ⁹²
- 3.93 Due to this, the NSW ICAC has commissioned surveys addressing perceptions of ICAC's effectiveness in terms of its success in exposing and reducing corruption. The most recent report, published in 2013, found that:

More than two-thirds indicated that the ICAC had been successful at exposing corruption and more than half indicated that the ICAC had been successful at reducing corruption. While the percentage of respondents who indicated that the ICAC had been successful at exposing corruption has decreased since post-2000, the percentage who though that the ICAC had been successful does not appear to have markedly changed and the percentage who thought that the ICAC is a good thing for the people of NSW appears to have increased from an already high starting point. ⁹³

3.94 In addition, the same report concluded that '[a]lmost all respondents who were aware of the ICAC indicated that it was a good thing for the people of NSW'. 94

Independent Commission Against Corruption, *Community attitudes to corruption and to the ICAC: report on the 2012 survey*, July 2013, p. 19.

The Hon. Mr Greiner, Premier of New South Wales, *Legislative Assembly Hansard*, 26 May 1988.

Independent Commission Against Corruption, *Community attitudes to corruption and to the ICAC: report on the 2012 survey*, July 2013, p. 19.

3.95 The Tasmanian IC has commissioned three community perception surveys since its inception in 2010. The Tasmanian IC's *Annual Report 2014–15* reported on the latest of these surveys conducted in May 2015:

A key finding was that the majority—92% of respondents—believe that Tasmania needs an Integrity Commission (89% in 2013) and that 61% of respondents also agree there is now more attention on ethical behaviour in Tasmania's public sector since the Commission started operating in 2010.

A large number (87%) of respondents agreed that 'there will always be some dishonesty, unethical behaviour and corruption in the public sector' (90% in 2013). There was a significant decrease in the responses indicating that 'there is no point reporting corruption or unethical behaviour in the Tasmanian public sector as nothing will be done about it' (22%, down 8%). This indicates that Tasmanians are becoming increasingly confident that misconduct will be appropriately dealt with. This is a key objective for the Commission, set out in its legislation. ⁹⁵

3.96 In October 2015, the outgoing Tasmanian Integrity Commissioner, Diane Merryfull, spoke to the ABC about the early years of the IC:

I think it's been a bit of a surprise to people that the Integrity Commission's been so effective.

Often when I speak to senior people across the public sector I don't think they expected the Integrity Commission would be as public and as resolute in pursuing its agenda as it has been.

The Integrity Commission is in the process of proving itself to everybody, including the Tasmanian Government.

We believe that transparency and accountability are the absolute essentials to improving integrity. 96

3.97 In 2014 SA undertook a review to consider whether the SA ICAC had 'made an appreciable difference to the prevention or minimisation of corruption, misconduct and maladministration in public administration'. The report concluded that:

It is not possible to make this assessment on a strictly quantitative basis. However it is possible to draw inferences from the nature of the organisation which has been created and the activities in which it has been involved. The ICAC website provides an insight into the educational activities which have been undertaken. There would seem to be no doubt that the purpose and function of ICAC is reasonably well-known in the community and that public officers, in particular, would be aware of its role. It is likely that information and advice given to public authorities by ICAC has led to a heightened awareness of the importance of institutional

⁹⁵ Integrity Commission, *Annual Report 2014–15*, Tasmania, 2015, p. 46.

Michael Atkin, 'Tasmanian senior public servants resistant to change, departing integrity watchdog boss says', *Australian Broadcasting Corporation*, 7 October 2015, http://www.abc.net.au/news/2015-10-07/tasmanian-public-servants-resistant-to-change-says-merryfull/6832330 (accessed: 13 April 2016).

probity. Publicity has also been given to the matters in which there has been a referral to prosecuting and disciplinary authorities.

In the light of these educative activities and the action which has been taken by the Commissioner in particular matters, I am of the view that the operations of ICAC have contributed in an effective manner to the prevention of conduct of the type which the Commissioner is required to investigate. 97

3.98 Following the conviction of Queensland parliamentarian Gordon Nuttall in 2009, then Queensland Premier gave a speech on purpose of the Qld CCC, and whether anti-corruption bodies were effective:

It is the great irony of accountable public administration that if you establish an independent watchdog, give it the powers and resources needed to investigate improper behaviour and it exposes wrong doing, question marks will be raised about your administration. Conversely, if you have no such independent watchdog and nothing is investigated or discovered your administration will escape perceptions of odious behaviour.

Despite the inevitable embarrassment from time to time, I would much rather live and work in a system which is not afraid to pick up the rock and discover the ugliness underneath than one that is content to leave the rock alone and assume that an undisturbed rock is a sign of good health.

So, are these mechanisms a good investment? Yes. 98

3.99 The WA CCC—in addition to the regular metrics on the number of allegations received and the number of reports published—also reports on the average cost of service per full-time equivalent employed in agencies under the WA CCC's jurisdiction. In 2014–15 it was reported that it cost \$205 per FTE employed within public authorities under the WA CCC's jurisdiction. ⁹⁹

Structure of a national anti-corruption commission

- 3.100 There are many possible structures of a NAC, as evidenced by the diversity of organisations that have been developed at state level; each with broadly the same purpose, but with differing organisational structures, responsibilities and powers.
- 3.101 In 2005 TI's NISA Report recommended the establishment of a NAC. The recommendations in the NISA Report outline in some detail the best-practice principles and administrative arrangements that the body should take. The recommendation to establish as NAC—in full—reads:

⁹⁷ The Hon. Kevin Duggan AM, QC, Report of a review of the operations of the Independent Commissioner Against Corruption and the Office for Public Integrity for the period 1 July 2014 to 30 June 2015, Adelaide, 2015, p. 21.

The Hon. Anna Bligh, 'Has nothing—or everything—changed in Queensland?', *Crikey*, (http://www.crikey.com.au/2009/07/29/anna-bligh-has-nothing-or-everything-changed-in-queensland, accessed: 11 April 2016).

⁹⁹ Crime and Corruption Commission, *Annual Report 2014–15*, Western Australia, September 2015, p. 25.

That the Commonwealth Government's proposed new independent statutory authority be tasked as a comprehensive lead agency for investigation and prevention of official corruption, criminal activity and serious misconduct involving Commonwealth officials, based on the following principles:

- 1. That the agency's jurisdiction not be limited to select agencies but include all Commonwealth officials from secretaries or equivalent down, including employees of Commonwealth-owned corporations, and any other persons involved or implicated in wrongdoing affecting the integrity of Commonwealth operations;
- 2. That the agency be made (i) an ex officio member of the Commonwealth Governance Review Council or other integrity coordination body created pursuant to recommendation 2, or failing that the existing Administrative Review Council, and (ii) subject to parliamentary oversight by a suitable parliamentary standing committee, preferably the same committee responsible for oversighting other core Commonwealth integrity agencies (see recommendation 3);
- 3. That the jurisdiction of the agency also include Commonwealth parliamentarians and ministers provided that, if recommendation 6 is taken up and an effective parliamentary and ministerial integrity system established, the agency's jurisdiction is only triggered by a request of the Parliamentary Integrity Commissioner, presiding officer of either House, or where in the opinion of the agency head an important matter of public interest would otherwise go uninvestigated;
- 4. That the agency be charged with a statutory responsibility to promote integrity and accountability as well as investigate wrongdoing, and be given a commensurate positive title rather than one defined by crime, misconduct or corruption;
- 5. That the agency be empowered and required to:
- (i) undertake inquiries of its own motion as well as receive and investigate complaints from whatever source;
- (ii) exercise concurrent jurisdiction and participate in a statutorily-based investigations clearing house with other federal investigative agencies including the Commonwealth Ombudsman and Australian Federal Police; and
- (iii) share all relevant information with other Commonwealth and state integrity institutions, and conduct cooperative investigations with them including delegating its own investigatory powers, when in either its or their opinion their own jurisdiction is also involved;
- 6. That the Commonwealth review its operational definitions of corruption to include internal fraud and any other offences or types of serious

misconduct with the potential to seriously affect public integrity, and revise its reporting, monitoring and prevention policies accordingly. 100

- 3.102 The recommendation of the NISA report goes to the jurisdiction, oversight, responsibilities, and powers of a NAC. It makes clear that while the most public feature of a NAC is the investigation of allegations of corruption, the role of a NAC extends to promoting integrity and accountability. The body would be accountable to a suitable parliamentary standing committee (in the same way that PCJACLEI currently monitors the performance of ACLEI) and work with state and territory integrity bodies to help prevent and investigate corruption regardless of where it occurs.
- 3.103 The committee also heard that an effective model could be the use of a coordinating council model (CCM) to remove concerns regarding conflicts of interest. In a CCM a central body acts as a clearing house for allegations of corruption, referring the investigation to an existing agency which already has the specialist expertise to deal with the allegations. Professor Graycar explained that a CCM allows the existing administrative infrastructure and expertise to investigate allegations of corruption, while an external body provides some assurance that matters are being investigated:

In essence, the council would direct the traffic rather than set up a separate body with investigative and prosecutorial powers.

. . .

One is an organisation that directs the traffic, but reports, perhaps to the Attorney, perhaps to a parliamentary committee, on the way it has done this, how it has increased awareness of corruption in society, how it has monitored performance and how it has monitored Australia's adherence to our international agreements, and so on. But, in addition, very often we find that our major anti-corruption agencies do not have all the detailed knowledge of the transgressions in the specific policy area.

. . .

Again, the council would be able to identify the way in which inspectors-general deal with their own internal issues and the way in which the various players perform, all of whom have a role in increasing integrity. The Ombudsman; the Public Service Commissioner; the Auditor-General, who chases stuff; the AFP: all of them have a role. 101

3.104 The structure proposed by TIA also clearly defines the relationship between the NAC and the executive. Professor AJ Brown from Griffith University has argued that an anti-corruption body needs to be free from the influence of the executive:

¹⁰⁰ Transparency International Australia and Griffith University, National Integrity Systems Assessment—Final Report, 2005, pp. 92–93.

¹⁰¹ Professor Adam Graycar, Committee Hansard, 21 April 2016, p. 22.

The starting principle should be that the agency (as a standing agency) has a clear, legislated jurisdiction which everyone understands, and which does not change on the whim of the executive. 102

- 3.105 Through ensuring that there is sufficient distance from the executive—while maintaining appropriate oversight—the NAC will be free to investigate corruption wherever it may occur. Sufficient distance also addresses the concerns raised earlier about the perception that governments can shield themselves from unwanted scrutiny.
- 3.106 Several proponents and opponents of a NAC have highlighted the importance of resourcing to the efficacy of anti-corruption regimes. Associate Professor Appleby warned that: 'A poorly funded anti-corruption body also poses a danger, providing a façade of increased commitment to integrity without adequate resources to carry through on that mandate'. ¹⁰³ Similarly, a critic of the NAC approach noted that:
 - ...if resources are not abundant, the cynics might suggest that politicians and players are working behind the scenes in order to ensure that the new agency is in fact hamstrung or politically toothless, so that business can proceed as normal. This scenario has played out with other anti-corruption agencies in Europe and Asia. ¹⁰⁴
- 3.107 Any new body has to be appropriately funded to perform its designated tasks to the standards expected by the Australian public.

Exploring models for Australia's national anti-corruption needs

- 3.108 As discussed above, there are multiple different models that Australia could adopt to prevent corruption. These models need to take into account the community's appetite for increased costs—both financial and legal—in exchange for increased certainty of public integrity, as well as the kinds of corruption present in Australia.
- 3.109 The committee was informed by Professor Graycar that 'much of the research that has been done on poor country corruption and we often try to apply poor country models to rich counties', despite being aware that the kinds of corruption in rich and poor countries are very different. The importance of finding an appropriate anti-corruption model for the given socio-political environment is highlighted by the fact that of the countries listed as less corrupt than Australia on TI's *Corruption Perception Index*, only one has a dedicated national anti-corruption agency.

Joint Select Committee on the Australian Commission for Law Enforcement Integrity, Operation of the Law Enforcement Integrity Commissioner Act 2006, Professor Brown, Submission 15, p. [4].

Gabrielle Appleby, 'What's the case for a federal ICAC?', *The Drum*, 10 September 2014, http://www.abc.net.au/news/2014-09-10/appleby-what's-the-case-for-a-federal-icac/5733712 (accessed: 25 February 2016).

¹⁰⁴ Professor Adam Graycar, Submission 1, p. 13.

¹⁰⁵ Professor Adam Graycar, Committee Hansard, 21 April 2016, p. 17.

¹⁰⁶ Professor Adam Graycar, *Committee Hansard*, 21 April 2016, p. 18.

- 3.110 To this end, TIA updated the committee on their ongoing research efforts 'for the setting up of a national integrity system analysis—that is, broad based, comprehensive research into all of those difficulties to see which is the best way forward'. 107
- 3.111 Professor Brown from Griffith University informed the committee of research currently underway—in partnership with TIA—on identifying appropriate anticorruption systems in Australia. This research would draw together the experiences of the Australian jurisdictions in tackling corruption and may provide insights into how the Australian Government could improve its own anti-corruption measures. Professor Brown reported that the NSW and Queensland integrity agencies and the Attorney-Generals' Department, had already engaged with this research. The research project is currently awaiting the outcome of an Australian Research Council research grant funding round before progressing further. 109
- 3.112 Highlighting the importance of additional research, the committee was informed that there has been no research on anti-corruption agencies in federal systems. Professor Graycar reported to the committee:

I have just started a piece of research...on anti-corruption agencies in federal systems. There has been no research on that at all. Most of the countries that have collaborative models are not federal systems, so it is not as if there is a great body of anti-corruption agencies or anti-corruption councils; they are all dealt with in different ways depending on the problem they are trying to solve. 110

3.113 TIA concluded: 'whatever way you look at it, though, I think you need to do research into this topic and come up with a number of models'. 111

Committee view

3.114 The establishment of a NAC is a significant decision. The tension of weighing up the creation of a new body with significant powers versus the need to prevent corruption was eloquently expressed by veteran journalist Mr Quentin Dempster:

I wish we did not have to have anti-corruption commissions. They have extraordinary coercive, sometimes you could say draconian, powers. Reputations can be damaged, sometimes unfairly.

• • •

The thing I wanted to say from my observation here in Queensland and in New South Wales is that we have had these institutions—these states have

¹⁰⁷ The Hon. Anthony Whealy QC, Chairman, Transparency International Australia, *Committee Hansard*, 21 April 2016, p. 9.

¹⁰⁸ Professor AJ Brown, Committee Hansard, 21 April 2016, p. 14.

¹⁰⁹ Professor AJ Brown, Committee Hansard, 21 April 2016, p. 14.

¹¹⁰ Professor Adam Graycar, Committee Hansard, 21 April 2016, p. 20.

The Hon. Anthony Whealy QC, Chairman, Transparency International Australia, *Committee Hansard*, 21 April 2016, p. 13.

had the benefit of what really has been a cutting edge of countermeasures of corruption, and it has been fraught with difficulty and great contention by the polities and the politicians, the lawyers and public officials in those jurisdictions, but I think the public benefit of their existence is substantial. 112

- 3.115 The decision between the establishment of a NAC and the multi-agency model is not a binary choice. Both should be components of Australia's integrity system. Agencies still need to have in place appropriate safeguards to minimise corruption, leaders will still have to model the behaviours they expect in their subordinates, and the legislature will be called upon—from time to time—to establish independent inquiries on specific matters.
- 3.116 This report has highlighted the shortcomings of the existing arrangements. It has also identified some of the risks and challenges to strengthen Australia's robustness against corruption at the highest levels. The committee will endeavour to explore these matters during the course of its inquiry while considering various anti-corruption models.
- 3.117 The committee is of the view that further Australian specific research will assist in future considerations of the establishment of an NAC. The committee encourages further research that brings together the expertise of academia, current anti-corruption agencies, and the public and non-governmental sectors to assess the merits, scope and structure of possible anti-corruption mechanisms. Although it may be premature for this interim report to make recommendations with regard to the establishment of NAC, findings from such research can aid the government and the Parliament in determining the most suitable model if NAC were to be established.

Recommendation 1

3.118 The committee recommends that the Australian Government support current and sound future research into potential anti-corruption systems appropriate for Australia including the research led by Griffith University, in partnership with Transparency International Australia.

Senator Zhenya Wang Committee Chair

_

¹¹² Mr Quentin Dempster, Committee Hansard, 21 April 2016, p. 24.

Additional Comments – Coalition Senators

Coalition Senators note paragraphs 3.8 to 3.44, of the evidence presented by the Australian Public Service Commission:

The commission's position is that we do not believe the APS needs a full-blown state ICAC style anticorruption commission. The view has been that that would be overkill given that there are a number of agencies that already have jurisdiction in that area. Already we have found that there has not been the systemic corruption that has been the subject of investigations in the state systems.

As are the Attorney General's Department's evidence:

The Australian government does not support a National Integrity Commission. The Australian government's approach to dealing with corruption is integrated and multifaceted. We work to get the standards and training right, assess risk and detect, investigate and respond to corruption. Underpinning this approach is our democratic system of representative government and the separation of powers enshrined in the Australian Constitution. There are a range of institutions that play a role in protecting against corruption and enabling scrutiny of the public and private sectors. These include parliamentary committees that scrutinise government activity and proposed laws; a free media; and an active civil society.¹

The current approach whereby allegations of corruption at a Commonwealth level can be investigated by a range of authorities, including the Australian Federal Police and the Australian Crime Commission, combined with the Australian Public Service Code of Conduct and Ministerial Code of Conduct, enforced by the Department of Prime Minister and Cabinet and the Australian Public Service Commission respectively are such that the assertion of shortcomings of the existing arrangements as asserted in paragraph 3.116 has not been made out.

Senator the Hon. Eric Abetz Liberal Senator for Tasmania Senator the Hon. David Johnston Liberal Senator for Western Australia

¹ Ms Leanne Close, Deputy Secretary, Attorney-General's Department, *Committee Hansard*, 21 April 2016, p. 1.

Appendix 1

Submissions received

Submission

Number Submitter

1	Prof Adam Graycar, Flinders University
2	Queensland Integrity Commissioner
3	Mr Ralph Cartwright
4	Elle Crush
5	Mr Michael Callan
6	Ms Jennifer Meyer
7	Mr Ted Bushell
8	Rule of Law Institue of Australia
9	Mr Quentin Dempster
10	NSW Independent Commission Against Corruption
11	Transparency International Australia (TIA)
12	Science Party Australia
13	Mr Bob Bottom
14	Mr Matthew Williams
15	Mr Chesney O'Donnell
16	Australian Public Service Commission
17	Australian Chamber of Commerce and Industry
18	Law Council of Australia
19	Gilbert + Tobin Centre of Public Law, UNSW Law, UNSW
20	Institute of Public Affairs
21	Independent broad-based anti-corruption commission
22	Confidential
23	Attorney-General's Department

- 24 Mr Griff Bartel
- 25 Community and Public Sector Union
- 26 Mr Charles Lawson
- 27 Dr Kim Sawyer
- 28 Professor Charles Sampford
- 29 Australian Council of Trade Unions

Appendix 2

Tabled documents

1. Improving enforcement options for serious corporate crime: Consideration of a Deferred Prosecution Agreements Scheme in Australia, tabled by the Attorney-General's Department at a public hearing in Canberra on 21 April 2016.

Appendix 3

Public hearings and witnesses

CANBERRA, 21 APRIL 2016

CLOSE, Ms Leanne, Deputy Secretary, Criminal Justice Group, Attorney-General's Department

HAWKINS, Ms Catherine, First Assistant Secretary, Criminal Justice Policy and Programs Division, Attorney-General's Department

MCCARTNEY, A/g Deputy Commissioner Ian, Operations, Australian Federal Police

CROZIER, Commander Peter, Manager Criminal Assets, Fraud and Anti-corruption, Australian Federal Police

WHEALY, Mr Anthony QC, Chairman, Transparency International Australia

NEWMAN, Mr Phil, Chief Executive Officer, Transparency International Australia

CHARLES, Hon. Stephen QC, The Accountability Round Table

BROWN, Professor A.J

GRAYCAR, Professor Adam

BREHENY, Mr Simon, Director of Policy, Institute of Public Affairs

DEMPSTER, Mr Quentin

SYDNEY, 28 APRIL 2016

MCCLYMONT, Ms Kate

MCKENZIE, Mr Nick

CALVER, Mr Richard, Australian Chamber of Commerce and Industry

MATHESON, Ms Alana, Australian Chamber of Commerce and Industry

STEWART, Mr Malcolm, Vice-President, Rule of Law Institute

BINGHAM, Mr Richard, Queensland Integrity Commissioner, Queensland Integrity Commission

GOLDING, Mr Greg, Chair, Working Party on Foreign Corrupt Practices, Business Law Section, Law Council of Australia

MOLT, Dr Natasha, Senior Legal Advisor, Policy Division, Law Council of Australia

APPLEBY, Associate Professor Gabrielle, Gilbert + Tobin Centre of Public Law

HOOLE, Dr Grant, Vice-Chancellor's Postdoctoral Research Fellow, Gilbert + Tobin Centre of Public Law

CLARKE, Mr Trevor, Director, Industrial and Legal, Australian Councils of Trade Unions